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CONSTITUTION

1. (1) The Chelsea Society shall be regulated by the Rules contained in this Constitution.

(2) These Rules shall come into force when the Society has adopted this constitution at a General
Meeting.

(3) In these Rules the expression “‘existing” means existing before the Rules come into force.

OBJECTS
2. The Objects of the Society shall be to preserve and improve the amenities of Chelsea by all available
means, and particularly-—
(a) by stimulating interest in the history, character and traditions of Chelseu;

(b) by encouraging good architecture, town planning and civic design, the planting and care of trees,
and the conservation and proper maintenance of open spaces;

(c) by seeking the abatement of nujsances;

(d) by promoting the interests of residents and practitioners of the fine arts, especially in regard to
their enjoyment of their homes, studios and surroundings; and

(e) by making representations to the proper authorities on these subjects.

MEMBERSHIP

3. Subject to the provisions of Rule 7, membership of the Society shall be open to all who are interested
in furthering the Objects of the Society.

THE COUNCIL

(1) There shall be a Council of the Society which shall be constituted in accordance with these Rules.

(2) The Society shall elect not more than twelve members of the Society to be members of the Council.

(3) The members of the Council so elected may co-opt not more than four other persons to be members
of the Council.

(4) The Officers to be appointed under Rule 5 shall also be members of the Council.

(5) In the choice of persons for membership of the Council, regard shall be had, amongst other things,
to the importance of including persons known to have expert knowledge and experience of matters
relevant to the Objects of the Society.

(6) The Council shall be responsible for the day-to-day work of the Society, and shall have power to
take any action on behalf of the Society which the Council thinks fit to take for the purpose of
furthering the Objects of the Society and shall make and publish every year a Report of the activities
of the Society during the previous year.

(7) The Council shall meet at least four times in each calendar year.

(8) A member of tl)e Council who is absent from two successive meetings of the Council without an
explanation which the Council approves shall cease to be a member of the Council.

(9) Three of the elected members of the Council shall retire every second year, but may offer themselves
for re-election by the Society.

(10) Illeti(ement under the last-preceding paragraph shall be in rotation according to seniority of

clection:
Provided that the first nine members to retire after these Rules come into force shall be chosen
by agreement or, in default of agreement, by lot.

(11) Casual vacancies among the elected members may be filled as soon as practicable by election by
the Society.

4.

(12) One of the co-opted members shall retire every second vear, but may be again co-opted.

OFFICERS
5. The Council shall appoint the following Officers of the Society, namely
(a) a Chairman of the Council,
(b) an Hon. Secretary or Joint Hon. Secretaries,
(¢) an Hon. Treasurer, and
(d) persons to fill such other posts as may be established by the Council.

PRESIDENT AND VICE-PRESIDENTS

6. (1) The Council may appoint a member of the Society to be President of the Society for a term of.
three years, and may re-appoint him for a further term of three years.

(2) The Council may appoint persons, who need not be members of the Society, to be Vice-Presidents
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SUBSCRIPTIONS

7. (1) The Council shall prescribe the amount of the subscriptions to be paid by members of the Society,
and the date on which they arc due, and the period in respect of which they are payable.
2) M;:mbcrship of the Society shall lapse if the member’s subseription is unpaid for six months after
it is due, bul may be restored by the Council.
3) L_Jmil olherwisp prescribed under this Rule, the annual subscription and the amount payable for
life membership shall continue to be payable at the existing rates*
(4) Members are invited to pay more than the prescribed minimum, if possible.

(5) Members who pay annual subscriptions arc requested to pay by banker's order. unless they are
unwilling to give banker’s orders.

GENERAL MEETINGS

8. (D In thesc Rules “General Meeting” means a meeting of the Society which all members of the
Society may attend.

(2) The C_ounci[ shall arrange at least one General Meeting every year, to be called the Annual General
Meeting, and may arrange as many other General Meetings, in these Rules referred to as Special
General Meetings, as the Council may think fit.

(3) General Meetings shall take place at such times and places as the Council may arrange.

(4) The President shall preside at any General Meeting at which he is present, and if he is not present
the Chan‘man‘of the Council or some person nominated by the Chairman of the Council shall
preside as Acting President.

(5) Any election to the Council shall be held at a General Meeting.

(6) No person shall be eligible for the Council unless—

(i) he or she has been proposed and seconded by other members of the Society, and has consented
to serve, and

(i) the names of the three persons concerned and the fact of the consent have reached the Hon.
Secretary in writing at least two weeks before the General Meeting.

(7) 1f the Hon. Secretary duly receives more names for election than there are vacancies, he shall
prepare voting papers for use at the General Meeting, and those persons who receive most votes
shall be declared elected.

(8) The Agenda for the Annual General Mecting shall include- -

(a) receiving the Annual Report; and
(b) receiving the Annual Accounts.

(9) At the Annual General Meeting any member of the Soctety may comment on any matter mentioned
in the Report or Accounts, and may, after having given at least a week’s notice in writing to the
Hon. Secretary, raise any matter not mentioned in the report, if it is within the Objects of the
Society.

(10) The President or Acting President may limit the duration of speeches.

(11) During a speech on any question any member of the Society may move that the question be now
put, without making a speech, and any other member may second that motion, without making a
speech, and if the motion is carried, the President or Acting President shall put the question
forthwith.

(12) If any 20 members of the Society apply to the Council in writing for a special Meeting of the
Society, the Council shall consider the application, and may make it a condition of granting
it that the expense should be defrayed by the applicants.

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS
9. (1) The existing Council shall continue to act for the Society until a Council is formed under Rule 4.

(2) Within five months of the adoption of the constitution the existing council shall arrange an Annual
or a Special General Meeting at which the first election to the Council shall be held.

(3) The existing Officers of the Society shall continue to serve until Officers are appointed under
Rule 5.

AMENDMENTS

10. (1) These Rules may be amended by a two-thirds majority of the members present and voting at an
Annual or Special General Meeting, if a notice in writing of the proposed amendment has reached
the Hon. Secretary at least two weeks before the General Meeting.

(2) The Hon. Secretary shall send notices of any such amendment to the members of the Society
before the General Meeting.

WINDING-UP

1. 1n the event of a winding-up of the Society, the disposal of the funds shall be decided by a maiority
vote at a General Meeting.

¥The existing rates are (i) for persons (other than life members) who became members before Vst July, 1961,
ten shillings annually, and (i) for persons who became members after 30th June, 1961, £1 amnually payable
on the \st Febrauary or a lump sum of £10 10s. for life membership.
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THE CHELSEA SOCIETY
Report for the year 1964

l. The Name of the New Borough

The letter on this subject sent to the Minister of Housing
and Local Government and published in our Annual Report
for 1963, together with the dignified motion brought forward
that year at our Annual General Meeting by Mr. Graham
Kerr, did not go unheeded.

We, and our Member of Parliament, and the Borough
Council, and many other organisations and individuals in
Chelsea achieved that for which we had all worked so hard:
the name of the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea.

2. The Kensington Society

A satisfactory meeting was held with the Council of the
Kensington Society at which it was agreed that while the two
Societies would deal separately with matters in their respective
territories, they would co-operate on those affecting the whole
of the new Borough.

Both Societies have hitherto enjoyed considerable help from
the architects belonging to the Town Planning Department
of the L.C.C. It is not yet clear whether the new Borough
will have a Chief Officer at the head of a similar Department.
To vest his functions in the head of the Borough Surveyor’s
Department seems a retrograde step. Surely an area with a
population of over 200,000 needs, and deserves, a separate
department under an architect versed in town and landscape
planning who can co-ordinate the plans, not only of private
developers, but also of the other departments of the Local
Authority (Health, Welfare, Housing and so forth), all of
them competing for space. The complexity of the problems
that confront us, as regards Traffic alone, is illustrated in
Professor Buchanan’s address reported on page 20.

3. The Greater London Council

Members will have noted that Mr. Bernard Collins has
been appointed Chief Planning Officer of the Greater London
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Council and that he has expressed the hope that, when the
demarcation of powers between the Greater London Council
and the new Boroughs has been worked out, the result will
be good and that a great new chapter in London’s history
will begin. He has defined his ambitions for London as a city
with the charm of Paris, the elegance of Vienna, the modernity
of Stockholm and the enterprise of New York, and with
history breathing from its stones as it does from those of
Rome. He visualizes working in unison with the Director of
Highways and Transportation. We are confident that the
Council of the new Royal Borough, where obviously much
will happen in the coming years, will match these aspirations.

4. The King’s Road Improvement Scheme

Mr. T. H. H. Hancock, who was nominated as our Council’s
representative on the Committee of the King’s Road Improve-
ment Scheme, found the hours of meeting hard to reconcile
with his own working hours and Admiral Durnford was
invited to replace him. Besides the many recommendations
concerning the removal or improvement of such clutter as
direction signs, old railings, overhead wires and unsightly
litter bins, the Committee advocated the planting of clusters
of trees in the King’s Road. This proposal has been taken
up by the Committee organising the Memorial Appeal for our
late Chairman, Mr. Marsden-Smedley, and the King’s Road
will figure prominently among the sites in Chelsea where trees
are planted as a tribute to his memory.

5. The Widening of the King’s Road

Work on the widening of the King’s Road between Chelsea
Manor Street and Dovehouse Street will be undertaken in the
near future. It will mean the temporary loss of two trees on
the north side, but will improve what is at present a bad traffic
bottleneck.

6. The Winchester Palace Site

The Borough Council received revised plans for this develop-
ment but deferred comment until it had been settled whether
No. 37 Cheyne Walk, a C. R. Ashbee house, was to be included.
They objected to its inclusion because it is on the list of
buildings of special historic and architectural interest. They
wished, moreover, that the plans should be referred to the
Royal Fine Arts Commission. The Council of the Chelsea
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Society supported their objection. They felt that if these plans
were carried out the character of Cheyne Walk would be
altered since too little attention had been paid to relating the
proposed new buildings in scale and design to existing houses
in Cheyne Walk and Oakley Street. They were anxious that
the east and west crescents at the bottom of Oakley Street
should present a reasonably balanced appearance at the
approach to Chelsea over Albert Bridge. They were also
concerned for the preservation of the Tudor wall, formerly
the garden wall of Old Shrewsbury House.

7. Albert Bridge

The Albert Bridge tidal flow scheme had apparently been
a success and the gantry was much less objectionable than
seemed likely when it was first proposed. [mprovements,
however, were still required at Battersea Bridge and at the
junction of Royal Hospital Road and the Embankment to
relieve congestion at these points.

8. Cadogan Place Gardens North and the Car Park

The Council of the Society was so much divided on this
subject—a division of opinion doubtless shared among
members generally—that it was decided not to intervene at
the public enquiry of which the outcome is still awaited.

9. Chelsea Old Church Memorial Gate

A sum of £219, part of it subscribed for a memorial to the
late Reginald Blunt, Chelsea historian and founder of the
Society, and part of it donated to the Society for the restoration
of the Church, was handed over to the Vicar and Church-
wardens. It will be used for a gate, designed by Mr. Paul Paget,
the Church architect, and set up at the bottom of the steps
leading to the choir gallery. Reginald Blunt’s name will be
commemorated here.

10. King’s Road “S” Bend

The Council of the Society concluded that a high block
would not be an objectionable feature on this corner and
that the development would greatly improve the hitherto .
difficult traffic conditions.

11.  West Chelsea Development Scheme
The architect, Mr. Eric Lyons, has put forward an amended
plan with positive advantages, including an increase in
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underground garage space, as well as a reduction in the
height of the tall blocks to 124 feet which should meet the
L.C.C.’s objections to the danger from sulphur dioxide fumes
from the Lots Road chimneys. The new design gives a satis-
factory environment with about 44 acres of open space out
of a total of 11 acres.

[t looks as though most of the Society’s criticisms have been
met, except that density still remains at 200 persons per acre.
The new plan has excellent features and makes good use of
the open space.

In a report on an earlier West Chelsea Development Scheme
—that which produced the Cremorne Estate-—Richard
Stewart Jones declared “there is every indication that the
Borough Council . . . will succeed in reconciling the claims
of wvital slum clearance with those of a historic Borough”.
These words were published in the Annual Report for 1948.
Echoing them today, your Council proposes to support the
new scheme.

2. The Supplementary List

Members were informed at the Annual General Meeting
last December that the L.C.C. wanted information about
possible threats to buildings of historic and architectural
interest in Chelsea, especially those on the Supplementary
List which are not safeguarded by the Town and Country
Planning Act, 1962, Section 32. This list is too long to be
included in the Annual Report, but the Hon. Secretary has
a copy at No. 9 St. Leonard’s Terrace, and it can be seen
there. Any member who has reason to believe that a building
of the kind may be threatened is asked to tell her, and she
will communicate with the appropriate Division of the Greater
London Authority.
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The Annual General
Meeting

of the Chelsea Society was held at

The Chelsea‘College of Science and Technology
(by kind permission of the Principal)

on Saturday, sth December, 1964

The President, Lord Normanbrook, took the Chair in the
Hall of the College of Science and Technology. Welcoming
a large gathering of members, he thanked Mr. Hentschel, the
Principal, and his staff for showing us the new building and
for providing an excellent tea.

The Minutes of the last Annual General Meeting, held on
26th October, 1963, were approved.

The President and Lord Conesford then paid tribute to the
memory of our late Chairman, Mr. Basil Marsden-Smedley.
(See page 16).

Elections to the Council

The President announced that three nominations had been
received to fill the three vacancies on the Council. The candi-
dates were Mr. Baden-Powell, proposed by Mr. J. M. Richards
and seconded by Mr. Best; Sir Anthony Wagner, proposed
by the Dowager Duchess of Devonshire and seconded by
Admiral Durnford; and Mr. John Yeoman, proposed by
Mr. Hancock and seconded by Mr. Knowles. The three were
duly elected.

Presentation of the Report and Accounts for 1963

The President then called on the Chairman, Admiral
Durnford, to move the adoption of the Annual Report and
Accounts for 1963. In so doing Admiral Durnford gave the
meeting a brief résumé of the activities of the Society since
the end of 1963 (see the Chairman’s Report, page 8).

The Hon. Treasurer, Mr. Roland Clarke, seconding the
motion, referred to the Society’s financial position. In 1963
the Society had a deficit of £94, and in the previous year of
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£62- -a total of £156 in two years. The chief reason for this
was the high cost of producing the Annual Report. In 1963
it was £315, or rather more than the total subscription income.

The Council had therefore decided to reduce the size of the
Report. The Report for 1963 had accordingly only 48 pages,
as against the 80 pages of the 1962 Report, and (though
figures were not yet available) the cost had probably been cut
by about £100. Next year there might have to be a further
reduction in size, though they hoped to maintain the quality
of the Report at the high level on which it had been produced
year by year by the late Chairman.

Another means of improving our finances was by improving
our income; and to achieve this Mr. Clarke exhorted those
present to persuade their friends and neighbours to join the
Society. Now that the Borough of Chelsea was coming to an
end, the Chelsea Society had an added responsibility to
sustain the integrity and character of Chelsea as a distinctive
neighbourhood. The more support we got the better should
we be equipped to discharge this function.

The motion was put to the Meeting and the Report and
Accounts were adopted.

Mur. Lidderdale, referring to the Chairman’s speech, thanked
the Society for its vigorous action regarding the Winchester
Palace Site at the bottom of Oakley Street. He hoped that
Nos. 37, 38 and 39 Cheyne Walk would not be pulled down
and was particularly anxious about the fate of No. 37.

Mr. Hancock, replying to Mr. Lidderdale, said that No. 37
was on the Statutory List in company with Nos. 38 and 39.
There had been grave objections to the first scheme of develop-
ment. The revised scheme had been rejected by the Planning
Authority because: -

(a) it did not accord with the regulations on density.

(b)) No. 37 Cheyne Walk would shortly be protected by a
preservation order.

(¢) The plans for the proposed buildings were quite out of
harmony, in height and design, with the houses on the
East side of the quadrant and other listed buildings in the
vicinity; and the Oakley Street frontage did not comply
with day lighting standards.
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The developers were appealing against the Preservation
Order on No. 37 and the decision of the Planning Authority,
so there would be a Public Enquiry, and local residents would
be well advised to form a Residents’ Association which would
represent them.

Mr. Adam asked if Margrie & Thurston’s premises could
not be included in the Scheduled List. Mr. Hancock thought
this unlikely; but the Historic Division of the L.C.C. was
examining the possibility of listing houses and shops next to
the Pier Hotel. Regrettably the Pier Hotel itself was not
considered of sufficient architectural importance to be pre-
served; but the crescent on the east side of the Quadrant was
on the Supplementary List.

The Rev. C. E. Leighton Thompson thanked the Society
for the sum of £219, collected or donated for the repair of
the Old Church and for a memorial to Reginald Blunt, our
founder, which had been handed over to the Vicar and
Churchwardens.

The President, then introduced our Guest Speaker, Professor
Buchanan, Chairman of a Committee set up by the Minister
of Transport which had produced Traffic in Towns, a magnifi-
cent work discussed at some length in our Annual Report for
1963. Here members would find set forth ideas and principles
which had always been cherished by the Society. He had great
pleasure in welcoming its author.

A résumé of Professor Buchanan’s address is given on
page 20.
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Obituary
The Rev. Gordon Walter Arrowsmith

Gordon Walter Arrowsmith, 21 years Rector of Chelsea
and Freeman of the Borough, died in June 1964. A. A.
Martineau said of him, “If ever a saint walked on earth it
was Gordon Arrowsmith.”

If indeed he were a saint, and many Chelsea neighbours
will echo his one-time Churchwarden’s remark, he waltked this
earth with a very human tread. He was kindly but he was
firm. He was a forceful preacher and a witty conversationalist.
He could praise and he could chide. He loved the beauty of
his house and garden and the history of his predecessors, but
he looked for a better future for parish and parishioners in
material as well as spiritual things.

He was, for a time, an Alderman of the Borough of Chelsea
but steered clear of party politics though he expressed his
opinion strongly especially when he thought wrong decisions
had been taken.

He was morally and physically brave. His stand in public
matters showed the first and his physical courage shone amid
the horror of bombing.

His gentle smile and boyish appearance will long be remem-
bered. His name takes an honoured place among the great
Rectors of Chelsea.

H.M.-S.

T. S. Eliot, O.M.

Thomas Stearns Eliot, O.M., who died on the 4th January,
1965, was a life member of the Chelsea Society and for many
years lived in Carlyle Mansions in Cheyne Walk. It is worth
noting that earlier in this century Carlyle Mansions was the
home of another great writer, Henry James, who like Eliot
was American by birth but English by adoption.

Eliot was born in [888 at St. Louis, Missouri. He came to
England in 1913 and for a short time taught at Highgate
Junior School where John Betjeman was among his pupils.
His first poems were published in 1915 and Prufrock followed
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in 1917. In 1922 The Waste Land established him as a major
poet, although today it is perhaps for his later, more mature
work and particularly for the Four Quartets, Murder in the
Cathedral and The Family Reunion that he is honoured as one
of the great writers of the century. He was also the author of
several volumes of literary criticism of great perceptiveness.
In 1948 he was appointed to the Order of Merit.

Other writers in other places have appraised Eliot’s literary
achievements. Here we remember him with affection as
formerly a familiar figure in the Chelsea scene. In 1957 he
married for the second time (his first wife having died ten years
earlier) and moved to Kensington.

Apart from his writing, Eliot was an active director of the
publishing house of Faber and Faber, a devoted Churchwarden
at St. Stephen’s, Gloucester Road, and a most distinguished
President of the London Library.

On the 4th February, 1965, Westminster Abbey was packed
to the doors by people from all walks of life who had come to
pay tribute to a great poet and an outstanding man of our
time.

R.D.C.

Tributes paid to Basil Marsden-Smedley
at the Annual General Meeting

Lord Normanbrook said:-—-

We in the Chelsea Society had suffered a grievous loss by
the death of our late Chairman, Basil Marsden-Smedley. In
the wide circle of his friends, and indeed in Chelsea as a
whole, it had left a gap hard to fill.

The social life of this country had been based for many
generations on the principle of voluntary public service, and
Basil was a shining example of the application of this principle.
The greater part of his adult life was devoted to the service
of the community in which he lived. He loved Chelsea deeply,
but he was not content to live in it and enjoy it. He worked
actively and ceaselessly to keep it as a place in which we
could all be proud and happy to live. This was an absorbing
interest in his life and he pursued it with selfless devotion. To
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further the interests of Chelsea and to preserve its amenities
he was always ready to undertake any duty however laborious,
any task however tedious, any research however meticulous
or detailed, any negotiation however difficult or delicate. No
time was too long for him to spend, no trouble too great for
him to take so long as he was working for the good of Chelsea
as he saw it.

As members of the Society, we owed him a great debt. He
was tireless in his work for it. Indeed it was not too much to
say that he became in himself a personification of the Society.
And he would long be remembered in Chelsea, not only for
his record of public service to the community, but also as a
well-loved and loyal friend. A gentle and a kindly man,
unmoved by personal ambition or private interest, he was
always ready to help others and to give his advice or assistance
in the furtherance of a good cause.

PLANE TREES IN TEDWORTH SQUARE PRUNED UNDER THE SUPERVISION

OF BASIL MARSDEN-SMEDLEY
Photograph by John Bignell
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Lord Conesford said.:—-

The Chelsea Society is 37 years old. | do not know any
Civic or Amenity Society which has had a more precious
place to serve or protect, or which has fought harder to
serve and protect it. Sometimes it has succeeded and sometimes
it has failed. Whatever follies the vandals have committed,
this, 1 think, is certain: but for the work of the Chelsea Society,
one of the most beautiful and far famed parts of our capital
would today be incomparably poorer. Such success as we
have had we owe to a few devoted and remarkable men,
Reginald Blunt, our founder, St. John Hornby, our Chairman
for 16 years, Richard Stewart Jones and Basil Marsden-
Smedley.

Of all these great servants of the Society, Basil served it
longest. He was a member of the Council for 30 years and
its Chairman for the last 19, with the exception of the two
years when he was Mayor of Chelsea, during which [ served
as Chairman. 1 served on the Council from 1946 to 1962,
with the exception of the years when I was a Minister, and
I thus had the experience of working with him for twelve
years.

What were his qualities, as [ see them? First, an immense
love of Chelsea and the most intimate knowledge of it. He
knew its architecture, its trees, its squares and terraces, its
history, its industries, past and present, and its arts. Secondly,
he was vigilant, well informed and immensely hard-working.
Aided by a large number of friends in all sections of Chelsea
society, he frequently had the earliest intimation of possible
threats to the things he loved and took timely and appropriate
action. Let me quote, and apply to Basil, a few sentences from
St. John Hornby’s beautiful tribute to Reginald Blunt.

“As the years went by he could not help looking with a
sad eye on the passing away of many an ancient land-mark
and cherished building. For to him Chelsea was something
almost sacred, and though he realised that changes must come
and that some destruction of what was old was inevitable—
for he was in no sense narrow-minded—he was, so far as
Chelsea was concerned, like a jealous Jover with his mistress,
and could not bear to see wanton hands laid upon her. Like
a knight of old he sprang at once to arms when she was
threatened and waged a doughty fight for her deliverance.”
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Thirdly, Basil was indefatigable in attending public en-
quiries and the like and representing our views.

Fourthly, he was very good at writing a timely letter to the
Press. where needed, and in giving information to friends of
Chelsea in Parliament, when it seemed that a Parliamentary
Question or Parliamentary action might help.

Lastly, he produced a series of admirable and attractive
Annual Reports, which 1 believe members greatly value, and
which are among the rewards of membership.

None of these things, I know, can convey the man we
knew. Many of his qualities would be rare in themselves;
they are rarer still in such happy combination.

The other day [ was reading Thucydides and came to a
passage which | had almost forgotten. Early in the Funeral
Oration, Pericles said: “It is difficult to say neither too little
nor too much; and even moderation is apt not to give the
impression of truthfulness. The friend of the dead who knows
the facts is likely to think the words of the speaker fall short
of his knowledge and of his wishes; another who is not so
well informed, when he hears of anything which surpasses
his own powers, will be envious and will suspect exaggeration.”

Today, in describing Basil’s work, I have not exaggerated.
I would say this in conclusion. If a man can be as widely
known as Basil was in an area as small as Chelsea, where he
has long lived and worked, and if he can there command such
general respect and affection, he has achieved one of the
rarest of honours that our present civilisation can bestow.
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Professor Buchanan’s Address

Professor Buchanan began by confessing that, though he
could claim to be a resident of the Royal Borough of Kensing-
ton and Chelsea, he could not live here under existing traffic
conditions without some sort of bolt hole outside London.

His Traffic in Towns was just over a year old, and he was
not dissatisfied with its reception. He had not advanced
many positive recommendations--he was too old a civil
servant for that. His aim had been to set in motion a series
of ideas to start people thinking, and his arguments had not
in the main been seriously disputed, even by the economists;
but no one had begun to work upon them.

The essence of his Report, the main conclusion on which
it was based, was that cars were here to stay because of their
value in moving goods as well as people, and that their number
would continue to increase. He thought that we must expect
40 million cars (most of them private ones) in the not very
distant future instead of the 11 million on the roads at present.

There were two aspects to this problem as it affected towns.
On the one hand the car was an asset in door-to-door acces-
sibility. On the other hand it was a destructive force. The
accident rate in Britain was already 7,000 deaths a year and
300,000 injuries, the noise problem was only beginning to
build up and the fumes were ever present--though, to be
fair, their connection with lung cancer was not yet established.
Moreover one had to consider the damage done to the town
itself as well as to the health and safety of its inhabitants.

The solution lay in a new approach to the whole subject.
We must think in terms of Environmental Management instead
of Traffic Management; for traffic and its requirements
should be considered as subordinate to the needs of the
environment instead of vice versa as at present. A well designed
network of roads must serve the environment as a corridor
serves the needs of rooms in a building. In practice it was
very difficult to contrive such networks, let alone to adapt
them to existing towns; and the difficulty was greater in
large cities, especially in London, the biggest generator of
traffic in the world.

What we had to do was to consider the adverse effects
of traffic in conjunction with the amount of traffic we had
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to expect and the amount of money we were prepared to spend
in adapting our present road networks to it. And we had
to remember that, however much money we had in hand for
the purpose, the volume of traffic was increasing and would
increase very much faster than we could provide facilities for
it. The answer was to impose a ceiling for traffic in cities;
a ceiling that could be raised as these facilities improved.
Traffic must be squeezed into existing road networks and its
vobime cut down by pricing the road space or cutting out the
less essential cars. The axe would fall on the commuters’ car;
which meant that public transport must be improved.

PLANE TREES IN TEDWORTH SQUARE

Photograph by John Bignell
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We must rebel against the universal penetration of through
traffic; people in cars should not be allowed to wreck estab-
lished amenities. There was a distinction between the thorough-
fare and the residential street. We must reject the idea that
our streets are mere channels for traffic; they have other
uses, and we must protect them by planting trees or setting
up bollards so as to keep through traffic out of them. No
one had attempted as yet to implement his Report; but he
felt that it could and should be taken up by the Amenity
Society. Societies like ours should steadfastly refuse to have
their environment sacrificed to heavy transport and the
commuters.
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Basil Marsden-Smedley
and The Chelsea Society

by Hilda Reid

Dropping in on Basil Marsden-Smedley one bitter cold
spring day last year, I found him as usual sitting over the
fire, books and papers strewn around him ankle deep. In the
course of conversation he remarked:

“My kind children wanted to send me on a sunshine cruise
in tropic seas.”

“Why didn’t you go?”

“I don’t want tropic seas. All my interests lie here in
Chelsea. But perhaps it was rather a pity in a way; my doctor
has forbidden me to swim, and I should have had a lot of
lovely swimming.”

“What do you mean?”
“The ship was the Laconia.”

He was entitled to his grim little jest; he was out of hospital
for the moment, but we all knew he would be back there.
Yet looking round that casual, spacious, hospitable room and
thinking of the people who had so often gathered there, people
of all ages and professions, all races, nations and languages,
and of their talk, eager and informed, about every subject
under the sun, it seemed to me preposterous for Basil to
claim that all his interests lay in Chelsea.

The answer, like the answers to so many of the questions
which one brought to him, could probably be found in that
enormous bookcase, and it might well lie in those three bound
volumes of the Annual Reports of the Chelsea Society—the
records of a war which had lasted for thirty-seven years and
is not yet finished; a local war with more than local implica-
tions, fought to establish the right of every citizen to live
in a town with his family, near his work and his friends,
exercising through study and argument some control over his
surroundings. This was “the good life” as Basil saw it, a full,
happy integrated life which should be within the reach of
every thinking man. The enemy was Bad Town Planning,
which could only be defeated by spreading the gospel of
Good Town Planning and by defending every sector of the
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battle front. Chelsea was his sector and he defended it with
passionate tenacity.

He was born in Chelsea in 1901 at Wilbraham Place, but
he left it at a very early age and most of his childhood was
spent at Lee Green in Derbyshire. Educated first at Horris
Hill and then at Harrow, he wanted to be an architect; but
when he was sixteen a sharp attack of polio, which left him
with a paralysed right arm, made that idea impracticable.
After his illness he visited the Eastern seaboard of the U.S.A.
and then went to Trinity Hall, Cambridge, where he read
History. He then returned to Chelsea and lived for some years
at 30 Royal Avenue while he ate his dinners at the Inner
Temple. In 1927 he married Hester Pinney of Racedown,
Dorset. They lived for a time at Rossetti Gardens Mansions
and were soon involved in local affairs. He was elected to the
Borough Council in 1928 and he became a Poor Man’s
Lawyer, giving free legal advice with a group of other young
barristers to anyone in need of it—a service much in demand
before the Citizens’ Advice Bureau came into being in the
second world war. In 1932 he joined the London County
Council as one of Chelsea’s representatives and the next year
he was put on the Committee of the Chelsea Housing Improve-
ment Society. By this time he and Hester were established
at 34 Tedworth Square with friends all over the Borough.
As these friends included Reginald Blunt and other members
of the Chelsea Society he was naturally conversant with its
affairs. But he did not join it till 1933.

At that time the Chelsea Society was engaged in a war over
the siting of the Chelsea Bridge. The then existing Chelsea
Suspension Bridge, built in 1858, was found insufficient for
the needs of modern traffic, and in 1930 we learnt that it was
to be demolished and a new bridge built some 40 yards up the
river. The new bridge would be approached by a roundabout,
entailing the requisition of about an acre of Ranelagh Gardens
and the destruction of many fine trees on this side of the
river, with a similar area of devastation in Battersea Park.
Reginald Blunt gave us warning of this scheme in his Annual
Report. The Commissioners of the Royal Hospital could be
trusted to protect their own property “as far as possible;
but we were concerned too because we were pledged to defend
Chelsea’s trees and its open spaces; so he asked, on behalf
of the Society, why a roundabout was necessary and why the
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new bridge had to be sited out of alignment with existing
approach roads. The Royal Hospital entered a firm and
formal protest, and the scheme was dropped for three years
on account of financial stringency.

In 1933 it was taken up again, and Blunt approached
Basil Marsden-Smedley, who was now on the L.C.C. Improve-
ments Committee, to suggest that advice should be taken
from the Royal Fine Arts Commission on the design of the
bridge and its siting. Basil once told me that the engineers
who had prepared the plans opposed this idea on the ground
that ““these architects’” would insist on adding a lot of expensive
ornament; and were much surprised when the architects
knocked £30,000 worth of ornament off their design. The
Committee was favourably impressed, and the new bridge
went up on the site of the old one.

Blunt was delighted with it when it was finished; it was
admirably simple in design and, an engineer himself, he
particularly liked “the novel and interesting feature” presented
by the pivoting of the upright girders which carry the suspen-
sion chains. Meanwhile Basil had, of course, been recruited
into the Society and given a seat on the Council.

A word about the founder of the Chelsea Society. Reginald
Blunt was a remarkable man. A connoisseur and an anti-
quarian, the author of many popular books on the history
of Chelsea, he was no mere ivory-tower scholar. A product
of Haileybury and King’s College, London, he served his
engineering apprenticeship with the London and South
Western Railway. When poor health put an end to his engineer-
ing career as early as 1887, he gained practical experience in
other fields, first as General Manager to William de Morgan’s
pottery in Fulham and later, from 1902 to 1919, as Super-
intendent to the Managers of the Stock Exchange. Moreover
he was for very many years on the governing body of the
Chelsea Park Dwellings Co. Ltd., one of several early housing
experiments in Chelsea designed to provide accommodation
for poor people at rents they could afford. From 1887 to
1902, he was Secretary to the Cheyne Hospital, founded in
1875 by a handful of philanthropic people for children
excluded as chronic or incurable cases from the General
Hospitals of that day. His first great loan exhibition of Chelsea
China was held in aid of the Hospital funds and he remained
on its governing body, serving as Chairman of the Finance
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Committee from 1926 until his death. As a son of the Rectory
he never forgot that his Wonderful Village was a Parish, and
he always felt a genuine concern for the welfare of his poorer
neighbours.

He was also deeply concerned for the preservation “of ail
features of Chelsea having beauty or historical interest”.
Much had been swept away in his own lifetime, and in 1927
what remained was threatened. It was in an effort to preserve
these remnants that he founded in that year his Chelsea
Society, modelled on the London Society as ‘“a local focus
and stimulus” for the expression of a growing interest in “‘the
preservation of the historic past, the betterment of the present,
and the wise provision for the future”.

He was not optimistic about the outcome. In Red Anchor
Pieces (1928) he assessed the chances of his few surviving
treasures. He did not rate those chances high. The very fame
of Chelsea (to which his own writings had contributed) as a
place of exceptional charm and romantic interest, made it
a target for the developers. And one could not ignore the
facts: property owners would continue to look for increasing
rentals, borough councillors for larger rateable values,
builders for profitable sites. It was useless to shout, “Vandal!”;
but by means of sweet reasonableness and persuasive argument,
plans that could not be negatived could sometimes be modified
or improved so as to conserve the good that need not be
destroyed. He believed that “the immense inert mass of
ordinary intelligent folk-—the vast majority of the population
- “cared for none of these things’; but his new Society could
count on support from similar bodies, such as the London
Society and the Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings,
as well as from enlightened individuals. Individuals who
happened to be Borough or County Councillors were among
his most valuable recruits.

By 1933 he could feel that the Society had justified its
existence. We had had our losses. We had not been able to
save Katherine Lodge in Trafalgar Square (now Chelsea
Square), or Lombard Terrace in Cheyne Walk, or Terry’s
little fruit shop, also in Cheyne Walk, which embodied the
last fragments of Old Shrewsbury House. But, in collaboration
with the Borough Council and other allies, we had prevented
the demolition of two Queen Anne houses in Cheyne Walk
(Nos. 16 and 18), had thwarted a scheme of the Treasury
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to sell the Duke of York’s School and its Ground for full
economic development, and had secured restrictions against
smoke and sulphur pollution from the Battersea and Fulbam
Power Stations, compelling them to instal a “cleansing
apparatus” which had never been employed on such a scale
before. We had also persuaded the Cadogan Estate to
“sterilize” most of Chelsea Square as an open space, had
saved a number of Chelsea trees there and elsewhere from
ill-treatment and destruction, and had helped to solve the
problem of Sloane Square (lately converted from a cross-roads
to a roundabout) by inducing the Borough Council to refer
the layout of that large new traffic island to the Royal Fine
Arts Commission.

Already before Basil joined the Society co-operation with
the Borough had been close and fruitful. This co-operation
continued. Tt is difficult to disentangle exactly the part that
he played in it during the next ten years, but the Annual
Reports provide clues. At the Annual General Meeting in
May 1933, seconding the adoption of the current Report,
he spoke on the care and proper treatment of trees, a subject
as near to Blunt’s heart as it was to his own. Next year he
spoke again, this time about a Town Planning Act for London
which was being prepared by the L.C.C. The Borough Council
had been asked to forward suggestions for that part of the
scheme which concerned Chelsea and had set up a Town
Planning Sub-Committee with Basil as its Chairman. The
Sub-Committee now asked the Society for suggestions.

At this time Town Planning was much to the fore in the
minds of our own Council. In 1929 we had learnt that the
fourteen acres lying between Milner Street and Elystan
Street., King’s Road and Brompton Road had been bought
for improvement by Sir John Ellerman. This area, formerly
comprising the Marlborough Cricket Ground and the eastern
half of the Chelsea Common, had been covered by Victorian
speculative builders with what Beaver describes as “a network
of streets, most of them narrow and squalid”. Improvement
was certainly desirable; and at first Blunt dared to hope that
Sir John and his architects might produce some grand com-
prehensive scheme which would be a credit to Chelsea. These
hopes were disappointed; Sir John’s improvements took the
form of demolishing 600 small, working-class houses and
selling the land piecemeal for the erection of large blocks of
“luxury” flats or flatlets. The architectural consequences we
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can all see in Sloane and Draycott Avenues. The social ones
are even more depressing; at meeting after meeting our
members deplored the loss to Chelsea of her own working-
class people, for whom alternative accommodation in the
neighbourhood was far from adequate.

[t is against this background of planless private development
that we must set the Society’s Suggestions in Regard to a Plan
for Chelsea prepared by a special Sub-Committee and forwarded
to the Town Clerk in November 1934.

Coming from a preservationist Society, it is a remarkable
document; for while it lists as worthy of protection some
dozen buildings or groups of buildings not previously schedul-
ed, the main contention is that Chelsea itself must be preserved
as a residential area with a long tradition of neighbourliness,
the resort of men of letters, Members of Parliament, artists,
actors, students and people engaged in work of all kinds. No
class of its residents should be forced by development to
leave the Borough, the work of Housing Authorities and
Associations in providing accommodation for people dis-
placed by such development is welcomed and the segregation
of classes i1s condemned. All sections of the community
should be able to live in all wards of the Borough, “so far
as available area, density of population and due provision
of open spaces and playgrounds allow”.

For it was not enough that people should be able to go on
living in Chelsea; Chelsea must remain a pleasant place to
live in. Fine trees and groups of trees should be scheduled
for protection. More trees should be planted and a survey
made to find suitable sites for them. Advertisements must be
controlled, and so must the height of new buildings, which
should not be allowed to dwarf protected buildings or rob
other buildings of light and air. Open spaces must be preserved
and so must the residential character of squares and gardens.
Through-traffic should be diverted along main arteries away
from residential areas, which must not be used as public
parking places. The proprietors of traffic magnets (such as
large commercial stores) should provide for the parking or
garaging of the traffic they attract. Chelsea is not suited for
industrial development; new factories, likely to create such
nuisances as fumes, smoke and noise, must be excluded
from any future schemes for the. Borough, and such develop-
ment should be controlled in surrounding districts. (This
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clause refers to complaints of noxious fumes emanating from
factories in Battersea.)

Commercial development without planning permission
should be allowed only in Sloane Street, Knightsbridge,
Fulham Road and the King’s Road. Elsewhere the erection
of commercial building should only be permitted with the
consent of the Planning Authority on through-traffic routes,
though small useful shops might be allowed in residential
areas.

Some of these Suggestions are now a commonplace of good
Town Planning: others point forward to the Abercrombie
Report of 1943 and the Buchanan Report of 1963. How far
we influenced the authors of these Reports it is of course
impossible to say; but at least we may claim that we gave
currency to, and provided a down-to-earth framework for,
certain advanced ideas that were floating in the air thirty
years ago; for our Suggestions were circulated among town
planners outside Chelsea. Copies were sent to interested
bodies, including the London Society (through whom they
reached other Boroughs coming under the L.C.C. scheme);
and the Planning Sub-Committee of the Chelsea Borough
Council had them printed to give them wider publicity. They
are very scarce now, but can be studied in the Chelsea Public
Library. 1t is also impossible to say what part, if any, Basil
played in drawing them up. What we do know is that he
adopted them as his terms of reference, using his position on
the Borough Council as on our own Council to get them
implemented.

The process began at once, Borough and Society working
together harmoniously. For example, when the proprietors of
Nell Gwynne House and new blocks of flats filed a petition
against a compulsary purchase order in respect of the present
site of Wiltshire Close, we gave evidence at the ensuing Public
Enquiry in support of the Borough Council, pointing out
that in other parts of Chelsea the erection of working-class
dwellings had not led to the depreciation of adjacent property.

Again, we collaborated with the Borough Council in an
effort to divert or (when that proved impossible) at least to
control the heavy fast traffic which was already spoiling the
amenities of Chelsea’s only large public open space, the
Embankment. We demanded pedestrian crossings several
years before we got them, instituted an enquiry into common
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types of mechanical fault (defective gears, tyres, exhausts and
load adjustment) long before any Minister of Transport took
this matter up, and urged the police to enforce existing
regulations against speeding and excessive noise only to find
they had too few powers and insufficient personnel.

We had better luck in supporting the protests of residents
who objected to their streets (Old Church Street, for example)
being converted into one-way traffic thoroughfares; but were
less successful in protecting Inner Cheyne Walk from the
same fate. The fight we put up is witnessed by that bulge in
the pavement outside the Old Church, constructed to dis-
courage heavy traffic from thundering past the Cheyne
Hospital for Children. A similar bulge at the east side of
Oakley Street was flattened out by the Traffic Authorities, to
the distress of the residents.

1939 brought the Bressey Report, a Highway Development
Survey for Greater London, designed to improve the flow of
traffic to the virtual exclusion of all other interests. But
what else that year brought gave Chelsea a breathing space
from the assaults of traffic and private building development;
on those two fronts, the war years were years of peace.

In other respects they were years of disaster; and our
most spectacular disaster was the destruction of the Old
Church on the night of April 16th-17th, 1941. Blunt was in the
country staying with Hester Marsden-Smedley and her
children when the news reached him. It-was a heavy blow,
for the old Church with its monuments was his greatest
treasure; but it did not kill him, it stirred him to action.
Little of the fabric remained, but the monuments were re-
covered almost intact from under the rubble, and the Old
Church must be rebuilt to contain them on its historic site.

He knew who would obstruct this project; not Hitler
(he discounted Hitler) but the Ecclesiastical Commissioners,
who would certainly find other uses for the war damage
insurance money. So, at the age of 84, he launched his final
campaign, rousing against them educated opinion all over the
country; for the splendid policies of his 1941-42 Report were
echoed in a leading article in The Times.

He lived till October 1944, long enough to welcome the
Abercrombie Report which, with its ring roads and classified
areas, embodied so many of our Suggestions. He could not
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praise it unreservedly; for one thing those ring roads ran
down the Royal Hospital Road to treat the Embankment as a
Parkway. Still, judged as a whole, he proclaimed it to be
a great and admirable plan, presenting much food for recon-
structive thought.

Blunt’s death was followed by the resignation of St. John
Hornby, our Chairman since 1928. Blunt himself, besides
producing all the Annual Reports, had been Hon. Treasurer
as well as Hon. Secretary since 1928. When a steadily increasing
membership made the routine work too heavy even for him,
he had in 1932 enlisted the help of Miss Daphne Sanger as
Assistant Hon. Secretary. The war had swept her away to
Cambridge as billeting officer to evacuated London children
there, and he had eventually secured the help of Miss Esther
Darlington as Joint Hon. Secretary.

Miss Darlington now became Acting Hon. Secretary while
Wilfred Elliston, for many years Secretary to the Cheyne
Hospital, accepted the post of Hon. Treasurer. Basil succeeded
St. John Hornby as Chairman. Several members of the
Council had served on it for longer than he, sharing Blunt’s
labours and his ideas; but Basil had worked very closely
with him, he was prepared to devote his time and his energies
to the Society; and when he undertook the compilation of
the Reports he, in effect, succeeded Blunt.

For the moment, his work with the Control Commission
took him often to Germany and our Report for 1945 was
compiled by another member of the Council, Frederick Adam.

The next Report was Basil’s; and by the time it was published
Richard Stewart Jones was Hon. Secretary. Richard had
earned the lasting gratitude of Chelsea at the age of 21,
spending a legacy in saving Lindsey House from demolition.
Blunt had rewarded him by 1938 with a seat on the Council,
and during the war, on leave from the forces, he had been
a prime mover in getting the shattered fragments of the
Old Church, with its monuments, protected from vandals and
the weather. For five years, till work for the National Trust
took him away from Chelsea, his gaiety, scholarship and
enthusiasm made him an invaluable assistant to Basil. They
were both of them pupils of Reginald Blunt and they were
determined to carry on his work.

Their first task was to ensure the rebuilding of the Old
Church. The Diocesan Authorities were obdurate. Their
reorganisation proposals ruled out any possibility of building
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any church on the site and they had abolished the office of
minister-in-charge. But the pressure put upon them did not
relax, either inside Chelsea (where the congregation continued
to meet) or outside it. A forceful letter to The Times (June 12th,
1946) was signed by Lord Esher, Lord Harewood, John
Summerson, the Presidents of the Royal Academy, the
Archzological Institute, the Society of Antiquaries and the
Architectural Association, and the Director of the National
Gallery. The Chelsea Society with the support of St. Luke’s
Parochial Church Council produced a memorandum claiming,
among other things, that this Church was ““a store-house of
history” and the most remarkable collection of memorials
in London, second only to Westminster Abbey. This memoran-
dum, submitted to twelve learned societies and approved
by them, was sent to the Borough Council which took up the
case so energetically that the Diocesan Committee gave in at
last. The site would be retained and a Church built on it
“when conditions permitted” capable of containing the
salvaged monuments and of providing a worthy setting for
them. And financial provision was made for the Minister-in-
Charge.

This was not good enough for the congregation, or for
the Society either; it was felt that the matter was being shelved.
From the ecclesiastical point of view the Old Church had
no status; for more than a century it had been a Chapel of
Ease. If it were a Parish Church its future would be more
secure. So while the congregation and their friends were
clearing away debris, procuring bricks and rebuilding the
vestry with their own hands among crowds of admiring
supporters, other people were working to get it converted
into a Parish Church. This was more quickly achieved than
the rebuilding, for shortage of building material and of
skilled labour imposed long delays. However, it proceeded
in stages and was finished at last by May [3th, 1958, when the
Old Church now a Parish Church was reconsecrated in the
presence of H.M. Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother. A
very happy occasion.

Chelsea had another church which though it too had been
destroyed by bombing and condemned by the Diocesan
Authorities still refused to die. But St. John’s at World’s End
was less fortunate than the Old Church; it had no architectural
beauty, no historic interest, no important monuments and no
powerful friends.
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Basil and Richard, busy with their plans for the Old Church
could not forget St. John’s. When the Borough Council
decided to celebrate the return of peace with a week of festivity
in 1948 and asked the Society to make a contribution, this
took the form of an Exhibition of Old Chelsea at St. John’s
Mission Hall, lent for the purpose by the Vicar.

The hall, with blasted windows and a damaged ceiling,
was in a sad state; but the project was immensely popular
in West Chelsea. Neighbours volunteered to paint and scrub,
disguising the scars of war with such poor materials as were
then available. There were tableaux (with wax figures lent
by Peter Jones) of Old Cremorne and the Chelsea Bun House,
there was Nell Gwynn, with her oranges, there were models
of new housing projects, and pictures and prints by Turner,
Whistler and Greaves, and cases of Chelsea China, including
seven pieces lent by Queen Mary who visited the exhibition
on its opening day.

In Blunt’s time the Society had held many exhibitions of
pictures and china. He loved Chelsea china; the anchor,
printed on every cover of the Annual Reports since 1929, is
the mark that distinguished its greatest period. Basil and
Hester shared his enthusiasm—Hester is very knowledgeable- -
and they were to organise other exhibitions of Chelsea china,
larger and more important than this one. But this, held in
war-battered World’s End, lingers in the memory.

As for St. John’s, after its brief flash of glory, when the
seven thousand visitors had gone their way, the small con-
gregation continued to meet in the Mission Hall under a
vicar self-condemned to poverty. The ruins of the church
were cleared away and grass was planted on the site; but
there was no money for railings, so it suffered the usual
shabby fate of unprotected open spaces. The trees round it
flourished, to be cut down eventually in order to make room
for garages. Basil, that lover of trees, turned a blind eye.
The garages brought in revenue which the trees had never done.
All his life he had twinges of conscience about St. John’s;
he could do so little for it and he always felt that he ought to
do more. It was with real pleasure that, discussing the West
Chelsea Development Scheme in his report for 1963, he
congratulated the Borough Council on including a site for
the eventual rebuilding of St. John’s Church.

It was in 1939 that we first heard of a proposal to replace
Albert Bridge with a structure able to carry heavy traffic.
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Blunt was of the opinion that the disappearance of Albert
Bridge would “evoke no tears”. For him beloved Albert was
an intruder and an ugly one. Still he thought the project
needed the most watchful consideration; there might have to
be a roundabout at the bottom of Oakley Street, and this
could perhaps be formed in part over the waterside to avoid
the demolition of houses in Cheyne Row and the Crescent.

In 1956, when the proposal was again brought forward,
there were, if not tears, at least indignant cries. Those delicate
Gothic traceries were now high fashion. Basil admired them,
and he did not favour a bulge in the river bank at this point,
spoiling the noble sweep of the Embankment. Besides, it
was clear by then how much we owe to Albert’s delicate
constitution. If the massive Behemoths now on the roads
could thunder over the river at this point, turning east down
inner Cheyne Walk, they would do worse than annoy the
residents; they would crack the foundations of the Cheyne
Walk houses. Our objective is to stave off this disaster till
a new ring road diverts heavy through-traffic to the Docks
across a new bridge somewhere near Black Point. The present
tidal flow represents a compromise between the Borough
Council and the Traffic Authorities. Albert takes a quantity
of commuter traffic (relatively light and harmless), relieving
the congestion of stouter bridges. But will his constitution
stand up to even this until the ring road is constructed ?

The harbour to the west of Battersea Bridge with its boats
and the old posts and rails was very dear to Blunt; it was
all that remained of the old river front he had known as a
boy. A suggestion made in 1930 that a playground could be
made for the West Chelsea children by erecting a timber
staging over the bay did not strike him as a happy one. The
playground would be dangerous and probably insanitary. The
little children would be run over by the traffic and the bigger
ones were much better off in the wide green enclosures of
Battersea Park. The money would be more wisely spent in
buying playgrounds for the smaller children near their own
homes.

Basil too loved this reach of the river, haunted by Turner,
Whistler and Greaves. In 1951 it was threatened again. The
Borough Council had to rebuild the river wall, and it put
forward several alternative suggestions in order to test public
opinion. One was a new embankment built across the bay
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and the boat beach to the Cremorne Arms. This idea was
opposed by the Society, which was supported by the National
Trust, the London Society, the Chelsea Arts Club, the Sea
Cadets, the Boy Scouts’ Association, the residents of Cheyne
Walk and the inhabitants of the houseboats. So the Borough
built along the old alignment the wall which we have today;
a pretentious imitation in concrete, Basil complained, of the
Victorian granite embankment on the far side of Battersea
Bridge.

Long before the Old Church was rebuilt, amateur gardeners
were planting flowers among the debris. This was revolutionary
in the mid forties; wild flowers relieved the ugliness of bomb
sites and vegetables were sometimes grown on them, but
planting for pleasure was a new idea then and it caught on.

Ambitious eyes were cast on the ugly scar stretching
westward from Old Church Street which laid bare the founda-
tions of what had once been Lombard Terrace and the cellars
of two houses in Danvers Street. The Rupert Gleadows
consulted Basil about the possibility of getting a plot here,
and in 1948 he persuaded the Borough Council to make
arrangements with the Sloane Stanley Estate so as to allow
volunteers chosen by the Society to turn what was fast becom-
ing a rubbish dump into flower gardens.

Children had adopted the place as their playground and
they were allowed to keep the part near the church while
the gardeners had the western half, including the Danvers
Street cellars which made wonderful wall gardens. They
occupied it for fourteen years, giving delight to a great many
people at no expense to the ratepayers, while the future
of the site was being debated.

Meanwhile building Jand in this part of Chelsea rose in
value to £200,000 an acre. But the public had grown accustomed
to the notion that there would always be a garden here, and
Basil was determined that there should be. It was he who
insisted that the new garden must be laid out by Peter
Shepheard, the landscape architect who addressed us on the
subject of trees at our Annual General Meeting in 1956.

Basil had always taken a great interest in the Bombsite
Gardens; he enjoyed their variety reflecting the tastes of
different plot holders. This particular pleasure could not be
reproduced in a public garden; but others could, the pleasure
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of leaning over a parapet and looking down into a garden,
and the pleasure of going down into a garden and hearing
the roar of the Embankment traffic subside to a relatively
gentle buzz.

[n 1960 we received protests against proposals by the
Housing Committee of the Borough Council to build on the
Rectory garden and the playgrounds of Wiltshire Close.
Basil supported these protests. He took his stand on the
Plan for Chelsea of 1934. The playgrounds were not too
large for the needs of the children in Wiltshire Close; and
as for the Rectory garden, an open space once built over is
lost for ever. Besides, this garden is the only large, wild,
beautiful garden that Chelsea children can play in; and the
children of St. Luke’s parish, with many older parishioners,
use it constantly. So the Chelsea Society sent its own protest
to the L.C.C.

The L.C.C. refused planning permission for the Wiltshire
Close Scheme, and the Borough Council dropped the idea of
building on the Rectory garden for the time being.

In 1946 the Chelsea Society was consulted by the Borough
Council as to whether Turner’s house (119 Cheyne Walk),
which had been severely blasted, was worth preserving.

ST. LEONARD’S TERRACE
Drawing by Basil Marsden-Smedley

Our Council reached the conclusion that while there was
no legitimate ground for preserving the interior (which had
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been much altered before the bombing), the exterior ought
to be preserved since part of it remained as it had been in
Turner’s time.

Later, when during discussions on the various West Chelsea
improvement schemes, Turner’s house seemed again in danger,
Basil warmly defended it.

To Basil, every studio in Chelsea was of historic interest
because it was part of the Chelsea tradition. Artists had
lived and worked here for centuries, and a Chelsea without
artists was something he did not choose to contemplate.

But artists had congregated in Chelsea largely because it
was picturesque, unfashionable and cheap. The fame they
brought it made it fashionable, and in every decade of the
twentieth century Chelsea has grown more expensive and less
picturesque. By the nineteen-twenties studios had become
particularly fashionable, for studio parties were in vogue.
Artists, squeezed out of their spacious studios in the more
celebrated parts of the Borough, took refuge in the shabbier
terraces where at least they had room to work. As time went
on these were condemned as sub-standard and pulled down
for development.

It was in vain that the Chelsea Society protested against
the eviction of artists from King’s Parade and Manresa Road;
though we had better luck in winning support for the potters
in Radnor Walk because they worked for the export market.

Basil felt that something positive should be done; the
Housing Authorities should provide for displaced artists as
they already did for the displaced working classes. But artists
could not work in the small rooms of Council flats; studios
must be built for them. The Borough must be empowered to
build new studios, construct others in existing buildings and
acquire existing ones.

Legislation was needed for this, so an electors’ meeting
was called to approve the inclusion of a relevant clause in
the L.C.C. General Powers Bill. It was well attended by
artists and members of the Society, and in 1949 Chelsea
among all the London Boroughs was given the requisite
powers.

In his Report for 1952 Basil was able to announce that
the studios on the Council’s Lucan Estate were neartly finished
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and that six others were to be built on the Cremorne Estate,
besides nine more on other sites. But in 1961 he had to warn
us that too little was still being done to stem the steady exodus
of Chelsea artists deprived of their homes and studios by
Public Institutions, developers, speculators and lessors.

In 1952 the Society was represented at a meeting of interested
Associations held at County Hall to consider how to arrest
the decay of Old Swan House, an outstanding example of the
work of Norman Shaw. As it needed an army of servants to
run it and could not be converted into flats, on account of
its interior design, it had been empty since 1931. The architects’
report was encouraging, the house could be saved if it was
occupied, and eventually the problem was solved: planning
permission was given to convert it into offices.

After the war Regency came into fashion and Paulton’s
Square, completed between 1840 and 1847 in a delightfully
uniform style, was so much admired that at the suggestion of
Richard Stewart Jones the Residents’ Association agreed to
paint the facades of their houses the same colour to emphasise
their architectural unity.

This is only marred by a block of shops and flats put up
before the war at the north-east corner. Fronting the King’s
Road at the opposite corner is a terrace of six houses, Stanley
Terrace, dated 1840 and obviously part of the original Paulton’s
Square development. In 1960 Basil learnt of a proposal to
demolish this terrace and build shops with flats over them
on the site. The Society protested and the L.C.C., supported
by Chelsea Borough Council, made a Building Preservation
Order covering the whole Square and Stanley Terrace. The
developers appealed against the Order and there was a public
inquiry at which Basil advanced our views. Before the inquiry
members had been asked to write to the Minister of Housing
supporting the Order, and many did so. The Order was
upheld and Stanley Terrace is now leased by the Sloane
Stanley Estate to the Chelsea Housing Improvement Society.

By 1959 Sydney Street south of St. Luke’s Church was
disappearing. The L.C.C. Education Department expanding
its Aeronautical College and the L.C.C. Welfare Department
extending its Old People’s Home, had been buying freeholds
and pulling down houses as soon as the leases fell in. But
the neat Georgian Terraces north of St. Luke’s Church and
St. Luke’s Hospital were still intact. Now those on the jeast-
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side were threatened, together with Guthrie Street and
Stewart’s Grove. The Oratory School, backed by the L.C.C.
Education Department, proposed to acquire the site for
playgrounds under a compulsory purchase order. So 76
houses in excellent repair (many of them freehold) were to be
demolished, and more than 300 men, women and children
would have to find somewhere else to live.

They refused to consider the idea, conducting their defence
with a spirit and energy that won them widespread support.
The press, local and national, and the B.B.C. gave welcome
publicity; all our Borough Councillors and our M.P. were
sympathetic, and Basil made the cause so much his own that
he was afterwards elected President of the Sydney Street and
District Ratepayers’ Association. He agreed that the school
needed playgrounds, but believed that these could be found
elsewhere.

Eventually the L.C.C. Planning Committee was persuaded
to remove the scheme from their Five Year Review.

The King’s Road has attained some degree of celebrity.
More important to Chelsea people is the fact that they are
still able to cross it in the course of their daily business and
can still take a bus to Sloane Square.

We took these amenities for granted till 1961 when in the
interest of commuters the Ministry of Transport proposed to
convert the King’s Road into a4 west-bound, one-way thorough-
fare and the Fulham Road into an east-bound one. Meeting
by chance with a high official of the Ministry, Basil indignantly
demanded an explanation. The official (himself a commuter)
was astonished; he had no idea that people still lived in
Central London.

Protests from the Boroughs affected, as well as from the
Chelsea and Putney Societies, presently convinced his Depart-
ment that they did and the proposal was dropped.

Along with the successes of Basil and the Chelsea Society,
it must be remembered that there were failures. Battersea
Park was an L.C.C. park, not a municipal one, and twenty
years ago the lawns and meadows behind the river walk were
the traditional playground of Chelsea children.

Unhappily, this was the site selected for the Festival Gardens
and, Fun Fair constructed in connection with the Festival of

39




Britain. The arrangement was supposed to be temporary, for
one summer only; but the cost of construction was very high
and the takings that first summer were small; so the authorities
resolved to open the Gardens again the next summer, and
then the next after that, hoping to recoup themselves to some
extent. Finally the whole thing was leased to a commercial
firm, Festival Gardens Co., to make what could be made out
of it till 1967.

Basil was outraged. He knew the value of those meadows
to local children for his own children had played there; and
he hated to sce them covered over with booths and sideshows.
Pintables had always seemed to him a poor exchange for
playing fields; and as a citizen he deeply disapproved when
land set aside for the free enjoyment of the public was handed
over to a profit making concern.

He had a chance to say so in 1956 at a public inquiry held
in connection with a proposal of the lessors to erect a graceless
scaffold tower 162 feet high with a circular car holding 42
people, which would revolve on reaching the top and be
lighted up like a Piccadilly sky sign. The objectors were
ourselves led by Basil, the Chelsea Borough Council, Cheyne
Walk residents, and the Friends of Battersea Park. We did
not fancy this proposed addition to our skyscape, and we
were all afraid that if Festival Gardens Co. were allowed to
embark on expensive projects they were likely to get a renewal
of their lease in 1967.

We lost; but a random question from one of our delegates,
on the subject of Capital Issues, proved unexpectedly relevant
and the project was postponed.

Royal Terrace, the splendid Victorian row of houses on
the east side of Royal Avenue, which gave its name to the
Avenue, is being replaced in stages by a row of attenuated,
pseudo-Regency houses. The first stage is almost complete.
The next will have to wait for some 35 years when existing
leases fall in. With the Borough Council, the London Society,
the Royal Fine Arts Commission, the Residents’ Association,
the Chelsea Liberal Association and other allies, we fought
this transformation fiercely through two public enquiries.

We won; but in 1963 the developers went over our heads
to the then Minister of Transport who allowed their scheme
to go through.
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KING’s PARADE
From a painting by Miss Josephine Oakman

King’s Parade consisted of two very beautiful Georgian
terraces standing back from the King’s Road between Dove-
house Street and Carlyle Square. They were very plain; their
beauty lay in their perfect proportions, and they were almost
unnoticed in the twenties and thirties when they were allowed
to run down. In the mid-thirties several houses at the Dove-
house Street end were condemned. But even these stood up
all through the bombing, to be pulled down at the end of
the war by L.C.C. demolition squads. The site had been
earmarked for a Fire Station.

Such sad scars were then common enough and the place
became known (even in some of our own Reports) as the
Dovehouse Street bombsite. For the next fifteen years it
was an eyesore, a perpetual source of complaint, first as a
bombsite, then as an advertisement station and then as a
car mart. We protested continually; but a fire station it was
one day to be, and meanwhile an eyesore it remained.

The rest of King’s Parade, now wholly condemned, grew
steadily shabbier. Like so many other terraces it had lost its
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garden railings in that disastrous railings-for-scrap campaign
which did more to promote the lasting squalor of post-war
London than all the bombs which were dropped.

The site of the whole Parade is covered now, partly by the
fire station and partly by that new technical college which
finds itself too much cramped here.

The King’s Parade affair, so long drawn out, made a deep
impression on Basil. It taught him that the Planning Depart-
ment of the L.C.C., such a staunch and powerful ally in the
face of undesirable private development, was helpless in
cases where other departments were involved. He realised
why. He had discovered in the course of his war work with
the Ministry of Economic Warfare that in the Civil Service
status tends to be linked with seniority. The Planning Depart-
ment was new and its jurisdiction was not recognised by old
established L.C.C. Departments like those concerned with
fire, education and finance.

Several events reinforced the lesson; the hard struggle to
save the north end of Sydney Street and the sad fate of its
southern terraces, the proposal to make the King’s Road
a one-way thoroughfare and the decision of the London
Transport Board to convert Lots Road Power Station from
coal to oil, exchanging the four black chimneys which Blunt
had disapproved of so deeply for two much taller ones which
would emit every day more than eight and a half tons of
carbon dioxide to spread a poisonous canopy over the Borough
Council’s proposed new housing estate in West Chelsea.

Besides all this, the Minister of Health without consulting
either the Borough Council or even the L.C.C. announced
that he intended to move seven specialist teaching hospitals
into Chelsea from other parts of London and that Chelsea
would have the honour of being known as the Hospital
Borough.

Basil now saw not only Chelsea but the whole of London
as a battle ground of land-hungry Planning Authorities, all
armed with powers of compulsory purchase and each intent
on furthering its own admirable schemes without looking at
the neighbourhood as a whole, or considering how the lives
of its inhabitants might be affected.

The result must be chaos unless a remedy could be found,
and there was only one possible remedy; there must be a
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single authority—a Town Planning Authority— with power to
say what buildings, including government buildings, should
or should not be sited in any given locality. This authority
must be able to act judicially between one department and
another, and it must be entirely separate from any influence
of a department with responsibilities for building projects.

This was Basil’s conviction, hammered out on the anvil of
experience. He felt it so deeply that at a meeting of the Council
of the new Borough (then still known as Borough 12) he
voted with the opposition against the proposal of his own
party that, for the time being at any rate, the architects and
planners of the new Borough should sit in the Borough
Surveyor’s Office. There was nothing personal in this nor any
narrow professionalism (he himself was a barrister, Reginald
Blunt had been an engineer); he voted against the proposal
because it seemed to him retrograde and anachronistic, alien
to the spirit of Good Town Planning.

When the new Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea
was being formed, Basil remarked, ‘“The Chelsea Society will
now be more important than ever. Chelsea will have no other
voice with which to speak.”
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Mrs. Eric GEorGE, O.B.E.,

Lirr.D,,
Mgrs. R. T. GisBs
‘Miss M. V. GIissoN
MRrs. H. N. GILBEY
‘Miss M. C. GrLasgow, C.B.E.
Mrs. RUPERT GLEADOW
‘JounN GLEN, Esq.
‘Dr. ALAN GLYN
ADMIRAL J. H. GopFrey, C.B.
Mrs. J. GODEFROL
EpwiNn CaAMPBELL GOODALL, EsQ.
R. P. H. GooLDEN, Esq.
JoHN S. Gorpon, Esq.
MRs. Francis GORE
‘AuUBREY GOUGH, EsqQ., T.D.
Miss LUCIENNE GOow
Dr. ELizaBETH F. GRAHAM KERR,
M.A., M.B., B.CHIR.

.

M.A
F.R.HisT. Soc.

Mrs. E. A. GREEN

W. R. GREEN, EsQ.

Dr. RaymMonND GREENE, M.A., D.M.,
F.R.C.P.

‘Miss JEAN GREIG

JonnN S. GreiG, EsQ.

‘R. P. GRENFELL, EsQ.

‘Mrs. R. P. GrenreLL, C.B.E.

Mrs. H. B. R. GREY-EDWARDS

MRs. W. S. A. GRIFFITH

Miss J. GRIFFITHS

A. G. GrRiMwaDE, EsqQ.

‘H. S. H. GuinnEss, EsQ.

‘MRS. GUINNESS

‘M. W. GUINNESS, EsQ.

‘Miss Joyce GUTTERIDGE

‘W. R. C. HALPIN, EsQ.
‘MaJor E. D. HALTON
‘SIR PATRICK HAMILTON, BART.
‘T. H. H. Hancock, Esq., F.R.I.LB.A.,
M. T.P.1,
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NicHoLas HANNEN, EsqQ., O.B.E.

Miss D. JANET HARDING
*Miss OLIVE HARGREAVES, O.B.E.

Miss D. M. HARRISON

MRS. HARRISON

E. L. Haves, Esq.

HeNrY HAYTER, EsqQ.

Miss CONSTANCE HAYWARD
*JoHN Haywarp, Esq., C.B.E.
*LAaDY HEATH

E. V. HEATHER, EsQ.

LADY HENDERSON
*RALPH A. HENDERSON, Esq.

Miss MARJORIE HENHAM-BARROW

G. A. HENLEY, Esq.

*Mnrs. HENRIQUES

Miss M. G. Henry
*Davip Hicks, EsqQ.

Miss C. HILLIERS
*ANTONY HiprisLEy CoxE, EsqQ.

MRs. R. HippisLey COXE
*MRs. OLIVER HOARE

Miss L. HOCKNELL
*Miss C. E. HOLLAND

Lapy HoLLaND-MarTIN, O.B.E.

B. S. HoLLoway, Esq.

MRs. B. S. HoLLoway
*FELIX HOPE-NICHOLSON, EsQ.
*Miss Diana HORNBY
*CarT. D. R. Howison
*Miss J. A£. HowisoN
*MRs. £. HowISON

Miss S. D. Hubson
*MRS. HERBERT HUGHES

CoroNEL R. HUGHES

MRS. CHARLES HUNT

BrYAN L. HUNTER, EsQ.

MRs. H. N. A. HUNTER

CHARLES F. INGRAM, EsQ.
MRS, JoaN IviMy

*Miss PAMELA JACOBSON
«Miss PEGGY JACOBSON

THE HoN. MRs. GEOFFREY JAMESON
DARSIE Japr, Esq.

MRs. D. M. JARRETT
*MRrs. H. TREGARTHEN JENKIN
Mrs. M. A. JENKS

L. JErRMAN, EsqQ.
*THE LorD JesseL, C.B.E.
Miss K. H. Jessor

Davib JoHn, Esq.

MRs. E. M. JONES
*P. L. JoseprH, EsqQ.



MRrs. G. E. Kamm

MRs. CHRISTOPHER KEELING

MRrs. C. G. KEMBALL

Louis KENTNER, EsQ.
*Miss A. M. Keyser, M.B.E., A.R.R.C.
CyriL H. KLEINWORT, EsQ.

JaMes M. KNowLEs, Esq., F.R.[.B.A.,

AM.T.PL

LT1.-CoL. F. O. KOEBEL
MRrs. M. F. KOEBEL

MRs. R. B. KONSTAM
Miss A. STENFERT KROESE

J. LAFFEATY, Esq.
Guy W. LaMBERT, Esq., C.B.
Mrs. Guy LaMBERT, M.B.E.
HuBERT LANGLEY, EsqQ.
A. R. Law, Esq.
ARTHUR LAWRENCE, EsQ.
JoHN LAWRENCE, EsqQ., O.B.E.
MRs. Lawson Dick
*GEORGE LAYTON, EsQ.
*JOHN LEHMANN, EsqQ.
MRs. GEORGE LEITH
BeENN Levy, EsqQ.
MRrs. E. B. LEwis
*DaviD LIDDERDALE, Esq., C.B.
T. M. Ling, Esq., M.D., M.R.C.P.
MRrs. T. M. LING
THE RT. HON. EARL OF LISTOWEL
CAPTAIN JOHN LITCHFIELD,

O.B.E, R.N,, M.P.

MRs. JoHN LITCHFIELD
MRs. Davip LocH
MRsS. LORNE LORAINE
Miss JoaN LORING
MRs. SIDNEY Luck
*Miss L. LUMLEY
*Miss A. M. LUPTON
*MRS. MICHAEL LUPTON
J. F. LUTTRELL, ESQ.
*Miss MELLICENT LyaLL, M.B.E.
MRS. REGINALD LyGon
*Mrs. H. MacCoLL
Miss ELAINE MACDONALD
* ALASDAIR ALPIN MACGREGOR, EsQ.
MRs. ALASDAIR MACGREGOR
*Miss C. F. N. Mackay, M.B.E.
MRs. KeiTH MACKENZIE
Miss EILEEN M. MACKINTOSH-WALKER
Joun McKIErRNAN, Esq., F.C.L.S.
J. A. MacNaBBg, Esq.
*JAMES MACNAIR, EsQ.
Miss DOROTHY MACNAMARA, O.B.E.
Miss A. McNEeiL, C.B.E.
*C. S. McNuLTy, Esq.
MRrs. GEOFFREY MADAN

*Miss B. I. M. MAGrRAW

GEORGE MALcoLM, EsqQ.
LT.-CoL. C. L’ESTRANGE MALONE
Miss ELsA MANN
Miss MARGARET MARCHANT, M.B.E.
MRs. J. MARINDIN, O.B.E.
FraNcis MARSDEN, Esq.
MRs. BASIL M ARSDEN-SMEDLEY
MRs. JOHN MARSDEN-SMEDLEY
LUKE MARSDEN-SMEDLEY, ESQ.
Miss HILARY MARSHALL

*W. A. MARTIN, EsqQ.

*A. A. MARTINEAU, EsqQ.

Miss M. G. Massy
L. W. MATTHEWS, EsQ.

*S1R EDWARD MAUFE, R.A.

*LADY MAUFE

*GARETH MAUFE, EsQ.

Miss B. L. MAUNSELL

*Miss Iris MEDLICOTT

*SIR JoHN MEGAW

*LADY MEGAW

*THE HON. MRS. PHILIP MELDON
MRs. N. MELLOR
Dr. O. L. MENAGE

*LADY MENZIES
MRs. C. M. MEREDITH
MRS. MERRIMAN

*W. R. MERTON, EsQ.

Miss PRISCILLA METCALF
MRs. MEYRICK

MRs. REX MIERS

Miss G. E. MILES

MRs. MELVILL MILLER
MRs. E. MITCHELL

*Miss ENiD MOBERLY-BELL
Miss P. D. J. MovLLoy
MARK MoNK, Esq.

MRrs. CHARLES MORDAUNT

*MRS. MORGAN
Miss GERDA MORGAN
P. S. MoRIcCE, EsqQ.

*A. G. Morris, EsQ.

*MRs. MORRIS
MICHAEL MORRIS, EsQ.

J. W. F. MorToON, EsQ.

*MRs. JOCELYN MoRTON, A.R.[.B.A.

*THE LADY MOSTYN

*THE LORD MOYNE
MRrs. H. M. MUNROE

*Miss ELIZABETH MURPHY-GRIMSHAW

*Miss EMILY MURRAY

*THE HON. SIR ALBERT NAPIER,
K.C.B, K.CV.0, Q.C
THe HoN. LADY NAPIER

. HENrY H. NasH, EsqQ.



P. A. NEGRETTJ, EsQ.

Miss B. AMY NEVILLE

MRs. NEWTON

Miss MaRriE NEY

MRs. KENNETH NICHOLS

MADAME NIEUWENHUYS

CMDR. THE RT. HON. SIR ALLAN NOBLE,

K.CM.G,D.S.0, DS.C, R.N.

MRrs. E. A. NOEL

THE HoN. MRrs. G. NOEL

THE LorD NorMANBROOK, P.C., G.C.B.
THE LADY NORMANBROOK

THE MARQUESS OF NORMANBY, M.B.E.
THE MARCHIONESS OF NORMANBY

Sir CrLiFForRD NorToN, K.C.M.G.

S. C. NortT, Esq.

Lt1.-CoL. THE LORD NUGENT

G. R. OakE, Esq., C.B.
MRs. AMy OCHS

Mrs. E. O’DonovanN
P. V. A. OLDAK, Esq.
MRs. V. OLDAK

MRrs. W. M. OLDAK
A. F. Oprg, Esq.

MRs. CUTHBERT ORDE
H. CLARE O’RORKE, EsQ.
Mrs. D. O’SuLLIvaN
Mrs. E. D. OWEN

C. D. PALMER, Esq.

A. PATERSON-MORGAN, ESQ.

SIR NEVILLE PEARSON

Lapy PEARSON

LAWRENCE PEGG, EsqQ.

Lr.-CoL. Eric Penn, C.V.O., C.B.E., M.C.
THE HoN. LADY DOUGLAS PENNANT
Mrs. FRANK PERKINS

T. H. H. PerroTT, ESQ.

PREBENDARY F. A. PiacHauDp, M.A., B.
THE HoN. DorROTHY PickrorDp, O.B.E.,
D. H. PieER, Esq.

JOHN PILCHER, EsQ.

T. A. Pocock, Esq.

/Aiss N. S. POMFRET

Miss Loutst HoyT PORTER

GORDON PRINGLE, EsqQ.

D.
J.

M.B.E.,, M.A,, F.R.I1.B.A.

MRrs. J. E. M. PRITCHARD

Dr. F. J. RANKIN

Mrs. F. J. RANKIN

Miss IRENE RATHBONE

THE BARONESS RAVENSDALE
Miss HEATHER RAWSON

Tue RT. HON. SIR PETER RawLINSON, Q.C.

MEssrs. A. J. REFFOLD & PARTNERS, LTD.

P.
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Miss HiLbDA REID
H. M. ReENNIE, EsqQ.
MRrs. RONALD RENTON
*MRs. HUGH REYNOLDS
F. A. RICHARDS, Esq., F.L.A.
J. M. RicHARDS, Esq., C.B.E.,, A.R.I.B.A.
MRs. M. A. RICHARDS
*MRS. NORMAN RICHARDS
*R. P. G. RICHARDS, Esq.
SIR ARTHUR Ricumonp, C.B.E.
THE RT. HoN. GEOFFREY RreroN, M.P.
E. C. RosBins, Esq., C.B.E
CoMMmANDER C. GowEeR RoBinson, R.N.
PATRICK ROBINSON, ESQ.
Miss DOROTHY Roppick
Miss PATIENCE ROPES
INNES RosE, EsQ.
Miss MURIEL RoOSE
Miss D. ROURKE-WILLIAMS
*LADY Rowan
Miss A. RoyaLTon-KiscH, A.R.I.C.S.
REAR-ADMIRAL ROYER Dick
*SIR PERCY RUGG, L.C.C.
T. T RuBemany, Esq., A.1L.
RiIcHARD F. RusseLL, Esq.
MRs. E. RUSSELL-SCARR
RonALD B. RyaLt, Esq.
MRs A. D. RYDER

THE REV. RALPH SADLEIR
MRS. RALPH SADLEIR
T. A. D. SAINSBURY, ESQ.
THE MARQUESS OF SALISBURY,
THE LORD SALTER, P.C., G.B.
THE Lapy SALTER
ANTHONY SAMPSON, Esq.
THE HoN. GODFREY SAMUEL
FRrANCIS SANDILANDS, ESQ.
MRS. FRANCIS SANDILANDS
JOHN SANDOE, Esq.
*JouN G. SANDREY, Esq., F.R.C.S.
Miss DAPHNE SANGER
Miss MAISIE SCHWARTZE
*Miss ISABEL ScoTT-ELLIOT
*Miss NORA SEARIGHT
“*MAJOR VICTOR SEELY
LADY SETON
Miss ATHENE SEYLER, C.B.E.
Miss M. J. SEYMOUR
THE LADY VICTORIA SEYMOUR
MRrs. C. H. SHEPHERD
MRS. P. SHERIDAN
Dr. CLIVE SHIELDS, B.M., B.C.H.
H. A. SHIRLEY-BEAVAN, EsQ.
MRs. A. H. M. SDpoNs
Miss G. M. SiLcock
B. J. Sims, Esq.

K.G, P.C
., K.C.B.



MRs. E. H. P. SLESSOR

M. Boyp SMmitH, Esq.

H. B. Sorer, Esq.

Miss MARY SOUTH
*HERBERT E. SPELLS, EsQ.

MRs. P. H. SPENCER-SILVER
MgRs. G. M. SPENCER-SMITH
*Miss ANNE STAFFORD-KING-HARMAN
*MRS. ROBERT STANHOPE-PALMER
*MRS. SIMON STAUGHTON
*MRs. HoPE STEVENS
*MRS. STORMONTH DARLING

H. R. STOWELL, EsqQ.
*MRs. ISOBEL STRACHEY

THe COUNTESS OF STRAFFORD
MRs. HENRY STRAGE

ROBERT F. P. STRICKLAND, ESQ., A.R.I.B.A.
*A. P. H. STRIDE, EsQ.

Miss HILDA M. STRUTHERS

A. E. SURsSHAM, Esq.

Miss PEGGY SUTTON

MRrs. F. H. SWANN

WILFRED J. M. SYNGE, Esq.

MRs. CHETWYND TALBOT
*Miss GERALDINE TALBOT
‘MRs. Liza TALBOT-PONSONBY
A. GorDON TAYLOR, EsQ.
MRs. C. SOMERS TAYLOR
*HoN. CoLIN TENNANT
THE LorRD TERRINGTON
Dr. D. J. THOMAS
MRrs. D. J. THOMAS
*THE Rev. C. E. LEIGHTON THOMSON
MRs. MARK THOMSON
Miss S. THORN-DRURY
*SIR COLIN THORNTON-KEMSLEY,

E., M.P.

*LADY THRELFORD
*CapPTAIN H. D. ToLLEMACHE, R.IN.
*MRs. DoNOVAN TOUCHE
CAPTAIN C. TOWNSEND
MRs. GEORGE TRENCH
MRs. P. H. TRENT
R. E. TROUNCER, EsQ.
CoLIN TRUSLER, EsQ.
Mgrs. M. E. TURNER
*Dr. W. C. TURNER

Miss E. A. UNDERWOOD

*M1ss MARGARET VALENTINE
ARTHUR VANDYK, EsQ.
Miss D. R. VIGERS

Miss A. VINES
Miss K. H. ViNES

Miss DOROTHY WADHAM

SIR ANTHONY WAGNER, K.C.V.O., D.Litr
Miss OLivia WALKER

Miss MIRIAM WALLACE, M.A.
R. E. WALROND, EsQ.

MRs. A. WALTER

RoNALD WARrRLOW, Esq., T.D., F.C.A.
MRs. L. WARNE

A. R. WARNER, Esq.

G. M. WaRR, Esq.

B. C. J. WaTERs, EsqQ.

STEPHEN WATTS, EsQ.
*PETER WEBSTER, EsQ.

Denys R. M. WEsT, Esq., B.A.
R. G. WHARHAM, EsQ.

MRrs. L. L. WHEATLEY
*LEONARD WHELEN, Esq.

MRS, WHIGHAM

LEONARD WHITEMAN, EsqQ., B.Sc.
*MRs. HENRY WHYHAM
*MRs. W. DE BURGH WHYTE
*HowaRD WICKSTEED, EsqQ.

G. H. WIGGLESWORTH, EsqQ.
*WALTER S. WIGGLESWORTH, EsQ.
Miss M. WiGRAM

PeTER WILLIAMS-POWLETT, ESQ.
*MRs. GOMER WILLIAMS

His HoNoUR JupGe R. B. WiLLis, T.D.
MRs. BEVIL WILSON

MRs. HUBERT WILSON

Miss MURIEL WILSON
*WILLIAM WILSON, EsQ.
*MRs. W. WILSON
*ROGER WIiMBUSH, EsQ.

LADY WINNIFRITH

MRs. E. WINTHROP-YOUNG
*PROFESSOR ELIZABETH WISKEMANN
SIR JOHN WOLFENDEN

MRs. E. WOLFF

F. WoLFr, EsqQ.

GEORGE Woop, EsqQ.

MRrs. GEORGE WooD

THE Rev. D. WORTH

MRS. FARRALL WRIGHT

JoBN YEOMAN, ESQ.
MRS. JOHN YEOMAN
*MRs. C. YOUNGER

Miss SUSAN ZILERT
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